HAVERFORDWEST

Town and County in the county of Pembroke

Haverfordwest owes its origin to the foundation of a castle, outside which was established a small community to whose Burgesses privileges were granted so as to encourage settlement and growth.   Henry II, on his way to Ireland, is said to have confirmed the liberties granted by his father, Henry I, to the “town and inhabitants of Haverford” ; and William Marshal, Earl of Pembroke and lord of Haverford, granted a charter some time before 1219 that gave some of the most favourable privileges of any town in the kingdom to the Burgesses, which accounted for the remarkable growth of the town during the thirteenth century.   Burgesses were particularly favoured by being given the right to sell or mortgage, or inherit, burgages and were thus enabled to accumulate wealth.

In 1479, Edward, Prince of Wales and lord of Haverford, granted a charter of incorporation to the town and conferred upon it the status of a county with the designation of  “ the county of the town of Haverfordwest” .   This status was confirmed by statute in 1543.

The county officers are a Lord Lieutenant and Custos Rotulorum, Justices of the Peace, Clerk of the Peace, and High and Petty Constables, all of whom, in 1835, were members of the corporation.   The town and county had its own Member of Parliament.

The corporation consisted of a Mayor, twenty-four capital Burgesses, who formed the common council, and the body of Burgesses of the town and county.   The officers of the corporation were the Mayor, Sheriff, two Bailiffs, Town Clerk, Chamber Reeve, two Serjeants-at-mace and a Crier.   The Mayor was also the Coroner, Escheator, Clerk of the Market,  Justice of the Peace, Deputy Lieutenant, Admiral of the Port and Judge of the Pie-powder Court.   He was elected from among the Burgesses, and so was the Sheriff.

William Marshal also gave the Burgesses the right to have a “Merchant Guild for the convenience of them and their town”.   Trade Guilds were incorporated by virtue of the authority granted to the Mayor and common council for that purpose in the borough charters.   The grants to the Guilds of Glovers, Feltmakers, Tailors, Cordwainers and Shoemakers, Saddlers, Blacksmiths and Gunsmiths, and Carpenters are still extant.   Each Guild had its own Master and Wardens; and only when the Guild members could not agree on subjects at issue would the Mayor and common council intervene.   By 1835 most of the Guilds had ceased to exist and those that had survived had “ dwindled into jovial clubs”.

The freedom of the borough was acquired by birth, or by servitude, or by election.   Freemen are now admitted if they are 18 years old and male and if the father or mother was the son or daughter of a Freeman.    Apprentices have not been admitted for many years, and there have been no elections of Freemen.   In 1835 there were 141 resident Freemen and 151 non-resident: in 1997 the number resident is 79 and there is record of 163 non-resident.

Freemen were admitted by the Mayor of the Borough until 1974, and by the Chairman of the Preseli District Council from 1974 until 1996, since when admissions have been made by the Chairman of the Pembrokeshire County Council.   The Clerk of the Council keeps the Freemen’s Roll.

The Freemen had rights of common for all commonable cattle on Portfield Common.   In 1727 sufficient ground was allotted for a horse race to be held each year on the Racecourse.   The Portfield Inclosure Act of 1838 recited that the common contained by estimation 600 acres or thereabouts of which 251 acres were allotted and awarded “unto the trustees for the Freemen of the Borough and County of the Town of Haverfordwest for the benefit of the Freemen of the said borough and their successors for ever”

The Trustees pay out net revenues when they have sufficient capital to pay each Freeman not less than £2 per annum.   Recently payments of up to £50 to each Freeman have been made.   The number of Freemen paid at the last distribution was 242.

The estate is managed by nine Trustees who are elected every three years.   Under the act the Trustees are given wide powers of letting and managing the property.   All the land is let to several local farmers:  Palmerston Farm house has been sold and the proceeds invested.

The recreation land at Portfield is controlled by the Portfield Recreation Committee constituted by the Haverfordwest Borough Act of 1868 and comprising the Mayor and four other members of the Town council, and five Trustees of the Freemen appointed by the Trustees.

The Gild of Freemen of Haverfordwest was formed in 1973 following the first Freemen’s Dinner held within living memory that was attended by about a hundred Freemen, together with Freemen from London, Birmingham, Slough and elsewhere.   The first Master was Colonel J.H.V. Higgon OBE, JP, DL; and he was succeeded in 1983 by the Deputy Master, Colonel J.F.W.Green OBE, TD, DL, who continued to hold the office until 1996 when G. Malcom Green was appointed.

In 1974 the Gild decided to appoint Burgesses for life from “persons of repute who have rendered outstanding service to the town”   There are 36 Burgesses and they receive no financial benefit.   The Chairman of the former District Council was appointed a Burgess, at first for life and then during the year in office only, which now applies to the Chairman of the Pembrokeshire County Council.   W.J.Grey DFC and G.C.Clayton DSC, who had previously received the Honorary Freedom of the town were admitted Burgesses, and among the others admitted were J Treasure Jones, Captain of the Queen Mary, Francis Jones, Wales Herald of Arms Extraordinary, and Dillwyn Miles, The Herald Bard.   The Marquis of Waterford, who sits in the House of Lords as Baron Tyrone of Haverfordwest, was admitted a Burgess.

The day-to-day affairs of the Gild are managed by a Court of Wardens, but ultimate authority rests with the Trustees, and with the Freemen at their annual general meeting.   The Gild has a badge designed by the Wales Herald of Arms Extraordinary, Gowns are worn by the Wardens.   The Gild has adopted St Martin’s Church, the towns oldest church, as its spiritual headquarters.
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